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I.
BY THE COMMISSION:

A. Introduction

1. This matter comes before the Colorado Public Util-ities Commission ("Commission") for consideration of exceptions to Decision No. R98-246, issued by the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") on March 6, 1998.  In that decision, the ALJ dismissed the complaint filed on behalf of the Commission by its staff (“Staff”), which complaint generally alleged that ABC Carriers, Inc., doing business as Denver Express Shuttle, Inc. (“ABC Car-riers”), provided intrastate transportation without authority from the Commission on three occasions and was therefore subject to a civil penalty assessment.

2. Exceptions to the recommended decision were filed pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., by Staff on March 26, 1998.  ABC Carriers filed a response to these exceptions on April 9, 1998.

3. The exceptions generally argue that:  (1) the ALJ erred in applying the doctrine of primary jurisdiction; and (2) the transportation at issue is subject to regulation by this Commission because it is exempt from regulation by the Surface Transportation Board (“STB”) pursuant to applicable portions of 49 U.S.C. § 13506.

4. Prior to considering the merits of the exceptions to Decision No. R98-246, the Commission must resolve two pending motions to strike filed by ABC Carriers.  In the first motion, filed on April 9, 1998, ABC Carriers moved to strike the four exhibits appended to Staff’s exceptions, which exhibits pertain to the primary jurisdiction issue.  In the second motion, filed May 5, 1998, ABC Carriers moved to strike the supplemental authority (Arapahoe County Pub. Airport Auth. v. Centennial Express Airlines, Inc., 956 P.2d 587 (Colo. 1998)) filed by Staff with Staff’s response to ABC Carriers’ motion to strike the four exhibits.  The Commission finds that it is free to consider the exhibits as legal support for Staff’s argument against the appli-cability of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, even though the facts contained in the four exhibits appended to Staff’s excep-tions are not part of the hearing record.  Additionally, with respect to consideration of Arapahoe County Pub. Airport Auth., nothing precludes the Commission from considering relevant case law regardless of when such material is submitted.  Thus, the Commission will deny both motions to strike; however, the Com-mission will consider ABC Carriers’ argument set forth in the motion that Arapahoe County Pub. Airport Auth. is not supportive of Staff’s argument on exceptions.

5. Now being duly advised in the matter, the Commis-sion will grant the exceptions.

B.
Factual Background

1. No party objects to the factual findings set forth in Decision No. R98-246, and they are hereby adopted by the Com-mission as required by § 40-6-113(4), C.R.S., when no transcript is filed.  The detailed findings of fact set forth in Decision No. R98-246 need not be repeated here; however, the Commission provides the following summary in order to provide a context for the discussion below.

2. This case has its genesis in a civil penalty assessment notice issued on July 25, 1997.  The notice cites three dates in which ABC Carriers allegedly provided transporta-tion service wholly within the State of Colorado without the necessary authority issued by this Commission.  The civil penalty notice specifically cited, in the alternative, three violations of § 40-10-104(1), C.R.S. (no certificate of public convenience and necessity (“CPCN”) authorizing common carriage), or three violations of § 40-11-103(1) (no permit authorizing contract car-riage), C.R.S., and sought a total of $1,200 in civil penalties ($400 per violation) pursuant to §§ 40-7-113(1)(b) and (c), C.R.S.  See Hearing Exhibit 1.

3. The basis for claiming that civil penalties should be assessed was the provision by ABC Carriers of a local airport shuttle service between Denver International Airport and several hotels located in downtown Denver.  ABC Carriers contends, as an affirmative defense, that the certificate issued to it by the Interstate Commerce Commission (“ICC”),
 Certificate No. MC 190873, Sub 5, authorizes it to provide local, intrastate transportation services along the named routes it is authorized to serve, even though that certificate contains the following condition:

The carrier is authorized to provide intrastate trans-portation service on a route under this certificate only if the carrier provides regularly scheduled inter-state transportation service on the route.

4. ABC Carriers, however, admitted that the local airport shuttle service that formed the basis of the notice to assess civil penalties in this matter is not part of a continuous interstate trip.

C.
Doctrine of Primary Jurisdiction Should Not Be Applied

1. The doctrine of primary jurisdiction, also known as the deference doctrine, allows for the referral to federal administrative agencies of cases “involving technical questions of fact uniquely within [that] agency’s expertise and expe-rience.”  Arapahoe County Pub. Airport Auth., 956 P.2d at 592.  The primary jurisdiction doctrine exists to promote uniformity and consistency in the resolution of issues pertaining to that agency’s expertise when that agency and an adjudicator in another forum each have jurisdiction over portions of the dispute.  Mashpee Tribe v. New Seabury Corp., 592 F.2d 575, 580 (5th Cir. 1979).  However, no fixed formula exists for the invocation of the primary jurisdiction doctrine.  Arapahoe County Pub. Airport Auth., 956 P.2d at 592.  Furthermore, the primary jurisdiction doctrine “should be utilized reluctantly where the issue is strictly a legal one that is within the conventional competence of the courts.”  Id.  Finally, in instances where the federal administrative action is of “uncertain aid and uncertain speed,” refusal to invoke the doctrine of primary jurisdiction is appro-priate when there exists a “strong public interest” to promptly resolve the controversy.  Id. (quoting Mashpee Tribe, 592 F.2d at 581).

2. The factors to be applied in determining whether to invoke the doctrine of primary jurisdiction are as follows:

a. whether the question at issue involves tech-nical or policy issues within the agency’s particular field of expertise beyond the understanding of judges;

b. whether the federal agency determination would materially aid the adjudicator to whom the question has been presented and avoid the danger of inconsistent rulings; and

c. whether the benefits of applying the doctrine outweigh the costs resulting from delay attributable to the referral of the matter to the federal administrative agency.

See generally, Arapahoe County Pub. Airport Auth., 956 P.2d at 592-93; National Communications Ass’n v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 46 F.3d 220, 223-25 (2d Cir. 1995); and Mashpee Tribe, 592 F.2d at 580-81.

3.
No technical or policy issues beyond the compe-tence of the Commission are present:  The Commission is empowered with the exclusive jurisdiction to enforce the CPCN and permit requirements set forth in §§ 40-10-104 and 40-11-103, C.R.S., and, where necessary, impose civil penalties pursuant to §§ 40-7-113(1)(b) and (c), C.R.S., for violation of those laws.  Thus, the Commission is responsible for determining whether a provider of transportation services needs a CPCN or permit to conduct operations.  Public Utilities Comm’n v. Weicker Transp. Co., 78 P.2d 633, 636 (Colo. 1938) (“the commission is clothed with general powers to regulate and control carriers for hire within the state”).

4.
While ordinarily no legitimate claim can be raised which suggests that the Commission, when assessing civil pen-alties against a motor carrier for hire operating in intrastate commerce, is considering technical or policy issues beyond its competence, such is not the case in the instant matter due to the claim of primary jurisdiction asserted by ABC Carriers.  In the instant matter, however, resolution of this case requires only the interpretation of legal authority and not a fact based deter-mination of complicated or specialized issues of construction for which the Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”) is particularly well-suited.  Initial referral, therefore, of this matter to the FHWA is neither necessary nor appropriate.

5.
The Commission is fully qualified to resolve the instant matter without invocation of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction because the technical and policy issues concerning the authority of the FHWA to issue intrastate authority to a motor carrier of passengers as part of the issuance of authority to provide interstate transportation have been resolved in the courts.  Arapahoe County Pub. Airport Auth., 956 P.2d at 592.  Thus, resolution of this matter requires nothing more than the interpretation of legal authority and the enforcement of Colorado law.

6.
Specifically, Funbus Systems, Inc. v. California Public Utilities Comm’n, 801 F.2d 1120 (9th Cir. 1986), and its progeny prescribe the conclusion that the local airport shuttle operations conducted by ABC Carriers which form the basis of this case are not authorized by ABC Carriers’ federal certificate.  In Funbus Systems, the Ninth Circuit, following review of the then existing statutory language and the pertinent legislative his-tory, determined that Congress intended to preempt the authority of the states to regulate intrastate motor carrier operations only to the extent that the intrastate operations were part of actually conducted interstate operations.  801 F.2d at 1129.  On remand, and with consideration of an additional statutory provi-sion enacted after the Ninth Circuit’s Funbus Systems decision, the ICC set forth the following test to be applied in determining the nexus between the interstate and intrastate operations of a motor carrier holding a federal transportation authority required to support lawful intrastate service under that authority:

The required interstate transportation must be a reg-ularly scheduled service, it must be actual, it must be bona fide and involve service in more than one State, and it must be substantial.  Thus, Congress requires that the interstate service be actively conducted.  Moreover, the intrastate service must be on the same route as the interstate service and there must be a nexus between them. . . . Furthermore, . . . [t]he interstate traffic must be substantial.  To show this, a carrier should submit evidence that over a reasonable period of time it has carried a substantial number of passengers in interstate commerce in the operation.  It may rely on traffic studies or data of a similarly spe-cific nature to show the number of interstate pas-sengers.  It must show that the intrastate operation is not independent but is part of the interstate service.  Since the interstate traffic is to be substantial in relation to the intrastate in that same operation, the information should include intrastate traffic figures by which to establish the substantiality of such inter-state traffic.  Data addressing the overall level of bus passengers in the area may also be relevant.

Funbus Systems, Inc., ICC Nos. MC-C-10917, MC-153325 (Sub-No.2), and MC-C-10943, 1987 WL 100200 (Dec. 30, 1987) (not published) (“Funbus Systems Remand”).

7.
This test has been applied subsequently in, for example, Airporter of Colorado, Inc. v. Interstate Commerce Comm’n, 866 F.2d 1328 (10th Cir. 1989); Boulder Airporter, Inc. v. Stapleton Stagecoach Co., ICC No. MC-C-30175, 8 I.C.C.2d 553, 1992 WL 112530 (May 22, 1992) (additionally holding that “[t]he mere holding out to provide service in interstate commerce is not substantial, bona fide, and actual service, within the meaning of [former 49 U.S.C. § 10922(c)(2), now codified as amended at 49 U.S.C. § 13902(b)(3)]”); and Informal Opinion of the Secretary of the ICC, Control No. 274-93 (December 1, 1993) (attached as Exhibit 4 to Staff’s Exceptions).

8.
Moreover, the FHWA recited this test in its letter of April 1, 1997, addressed to J. Bryan Howell, former attorney for the Commission, and concerning ABC Carriers.  That letter, attached as Exhibit 2 to Staff’s Exceptions, states that “a car-rier [operating pursuant to the condition set forth in ABC Car-riers’ ICC certificate (quoted above at ¶ I.B.3.] that does not provide bona fide, regularly scheduled interstate transportation on the intrastate route does not possess FHWA authorization to 

conduct intrastate operations.”
 In short, the nexus described above in the relevant legal authority is a prerequisite to pro-viding lawful intrastate transportation services pursuant to a federal transportation authority.  Whether such a nexus has been demonstrated, because of Funbus Systems, etc., requires no spe-cial expertise or policy consideration beyond the competence of the Commission and is appropriately determined by the Commission.

9.
Referral to FHWA will not materially aid resolution of this matter:  Application of the doctrine of primary juris-diction would not materially aid this Commission because the FHWA, through its predecessor agency, the ICC, has already construed the language contained in the federal authority at issue.  Fontan-de-Maldonado v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., 936 F.2d 630, 631 (1st Cir. 1991) ("Of course, if the agency has already announced its views, there is no need to apply the doctrine [of primary jurisdiction]."); United States v. Western Pac. R.R. Co., 352 U.S. 59, 69 (1956) (same).  Funbus Systems, the other cases, and the FHWA letter relied on in the preceding section demonstrate that there is no real risk of the FHWA reaching a result inconsistent from that to be reached in this decision in the event this matter were referred.  Thus, any aid in resolving this matter that could be provided by the FHWA would not be material, but rather redun-dant.

10.
Furthermore, there is reason to doubt that the FHWA, which is a division of the Department of Transportation (“DOT”), would ever issue a formal decision in this case under current federal law.  This is evident from the legislative his-tory of the ICC Act of 1995 wherein it provides with respect to dispute resolution:

The Committee [on Transportation and Infrastructure] does not believe that DOT should allocate scarce resources to resolving these essentially private dis-putes, and specifically directs that DOT should not continue the dispute resolution functions in the[] areas [in which the ICC resolved disputes].

H.Rep. No. 104-311, reprinted in 1995 U.S. Code Cong. & Ad. News 793, 799-800.

11.
For these reasons, this factor also weighs against the application of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction.

12.
Public interest requires resolution of this case by the Commission:  As explained in our initial discussion on the principles of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, deference to a federal agency is inappropriate when the public interest requires a decision and the federal agency action is likely to result in delay.  Arapahoe County Pub. Airport Auth., 956 P.2d at 592.  The costs of delay in the resolution of this relatively simple dispute outweigh the marginal benefit that could be achieved by having it resolved by the FHWA.  National Communica-tions Ass’n, Inc., 46 F.3d at 225 (“Since the district court can conclude this matter far more expeditiously, a potential delay of even two years more than outweighs any benefit that might be achieved by having the [federal agency] resolve this relatively simple factual dispute.”).  The apparent inability of the FHWA to act on this matter with any reasonable speed, therefore, suggests that the doctrine of primary jurisdiction should not be applied.

13.
Commission Conclusions:  Applying the doctrine of primary jurisdiction test enunciated above, the Commission should not refer this matter to the FHWA for resolution.  None of the three factors (expertise, material aid, and expeditious resolu-tion) suggest that the doctrine of primary jurisdiction should be applied.  Instead, the Commission will resolve the important pub-lic interest issue at stake in this dispute by applying estab-lished law in a matter in which the risk of inconsistent results is negligible to nonexistent.  As a result of this decision, there will be no doubt as to the requirement that a common or contract motor carrier engaging in intrastate operations in Colorado without a substantial nexus to federally authorized, regularly scheduled and operated interstate operations must have a CPCN or permit issued by this Commission authorizing the intra-state transportation.

14.
Having determined that the Commission will not defer resolution of this matter to the FHWA, the Commission now considers the facts in evidence to determine whether the trans-portation services at issue in this case were validly conducted pursuant to ABC Carriers’ federal authority.  It is noted that ABC Carriers, since it raised the issue as an affirmative defense, has the burden of proof to establish that its local air-port shuttle service was lawfully conducted pursuant to its federal authority.  Western Distributing Co. v. Diodosio, 841 P.2d 1053, 1057 (Colo. 1992) (“The burden of proving an affirma-tive defense rests upon the [party] asserting the defense.”).

15.
We find that ABC Carriers has not established that it was conducting actual, substantial, and bona fide interstate operations which would support the provision of intrastate opera-tions consistent with its federal authority.  In short, ABC Car-riers has not demonstrated, consistent with the Funbus Systems Remand test quoted above, that the requisite nexus exists to legitimize its local airport shuttle service under its federal certificate.  This finding mirrors that of the ALJ who commented that “the local airport shuttle service between downtown Denver and Denver International Airport is overwhelmingly (if not totally) intrastate in nature.”  Decision No. R98-246, ¶ III.A.

16.
In light of the above finding that ABC Carriers’ local airport shuttle service operations which are at issue, the Commission must now decide whether Staff has met its burden of demonstrating that ABC Carriers was operating in violation of either §§ 40-10-104 or 40-11-103, C.R.S., on the three occasions specified in the civil penalty assessment notices.  The Commis-sion finds that Staff has met this burden because the facts of this case establish intrastate operations conducted without the appropriate Commission CPCN or permit.  The Commission is there-fore authorized to assess civil penalties up to the maximum of $400 per violation as prescribed by §§ 40-7-113(1)(b) and (c), C.R.S.  Based on the evidence, and for the foregoing reasons, the Commission concludes that the imposition of the maximum penalty against ABC Carriers is appropriate and in the public interest.

D.
The Exemptions From Federal Regulation Permit 
Regulation By This Commission

1. Even assuming that the facts in this matter did demonstrate that ABC Carriers provided interstate transportation of a sufficiently substantial nature to authorize the provision of intrastate transportation within the terms of its federal cer-tificate, the transportation services between downtown Denver and Denver International Airport at issue in this matter are exempt from federal regulation pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 13506.  As a result, irrespective of the preceding interpretation of ABC Car-riers’ federal certificate and our determination not to invoke the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, the Commission has juris-diction to regulate the local airport shuttle service at issue in this matter.

2. The Commission has authority to regulate the “transportation of passengers by motor vehicle incidental to transportation by aircraft,” 49 U.S.C. § 13906(a)(8)(A), per-formed by interstate motor carriers when such transportation is intrastate in character.  Auclair Transportation, Inc. v. State, 305 A.2d 662, 664 (N.H. 1971).  Such transportation performed by interstate motor carriers is intrastate in character if “the carrier of passengers operat[ed] wholly within a State, selling no through tickets, and having no common arrangements with con-necting out-of-State carriers.”  Motor Transp. of Passengers Incidental to Air, 95 M.C.C. 526, 536 (1964); Informal Opinion (Exhibit 4 to Staff’s Exceptions).  The transportation of “walk-up” customers, such as demonstrated in the facts of this case, is intrastate passenger transportation.  Informal Opinion (Exhibit 4 to Staff’s Exceptions).  Thus, the evidence of record in this matter clearly supports the finding that ABC Carriers engaged in intrastate transportation exempt from regulation by the STB.  More importantly, this intrastate transportation is subject to full regulation by this Commission including the assessment of civil penalties for violations of Colorado law.

3. Additionally, nothing prevents this Commission from regulating transportation exempt from regulation by the STB by operation of 49 U.S.C. § 13506(b)(1)(A).  Auclair, 305 A.2d 662 (absent a contrary ruling by the ICC/STB/FHWA, states may regulate where the ICC/STB/FHWA cannot).  ABC Carriers’ opera-tions which are the subject of the instant civil penalty matter constitute transportation provided “in a municipality, in con-tiguous municipalities, or in a zone that is adjacent to, and commercially a part of, the municipality or municipalities,” 49 U.S.C. § 13506(b)(1), thereby suggesting an exemption from federal regulation.  In fact, an exemption from STB regulation exists because ABC Carriers’ local airport shuttle operations do not involve a common arrangement for continuous carriage beyond the Denver metropolitan commercial zone.  49 U.S.C § 13506(b)(1)(A).  In other words, the local airport shuttle operations of ABC Carriers at issue are exempt from federal regulation because the exception (common arrangement) to the exemption is inapplicable.  Thus, since there are no STB/ICC/FHWA rulings of which this Commission is aware which condition or preclude state regulation of a motor carrier exempt from federal regulation pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 13506(b)(1), the Commission is free to require ABC Carriers to obtain a CPCN or permit author-izing intrastate operations consistent with the laws of the State of Colorado and to issue civil penalties for violation of the same.

II. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. The comments filed by Robert Timmons, doing busi-ness as Superior Shuttle Service, Inc., on May 8, 1998, are stricken from the record.

2. Both motions to strike filed by ABC Carriers, Inc., doing business as Denver Express Shuttle, Inc., on April 9, 1998 and May 5, 1998, respectively, are denied; however, the Com-mission permits the supplemental response set forth in the motion to strike filed on May 5, 1998.

3. The exceptions to Decision No. R98-246 filed by the Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission are granted.

4. The legal conclusions set forth in Decision No. R98-246 shall be of no force and effect.

5. ABC Carriers, Inc., doing business as Denver Express Shuttle, Inc., is assessed a civil penalty of $400 for each of the three violations of either § 40-10-104(1) (operating without a certificate of public convenience and necessity) or § 40-11-103(1) (operating without a permit), C.R.S., which occurred on June 27, 1997, and July 21 and 25, 1997.

6. ABC Carriers, Inc., doing business as Denver Express Shuttle, Inc., shall pay the total civil penalty assessed in Ordering Paragraph No. 5 ($1,200) no later than 30 days after this Decision becomes a final order of the Commission.

7. The 20-day period provided for in § 40-6-114(1), C.R.S., within which to file applications for rehearing, reargu-ment, or reconsideration begins on the first day following the effective date of this Decision.

8. This Decision is effective on its Mailed Date.

B.
ADOPTED IN COMMISSIONERS' WEEKLY MEETING
October 1, 1998.

THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO
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� On May 8, 1998, Robert Timmons, doing business as Superior Shuttle Service, Inc., filed a comment to the ALJ’s recommended decision explaining the dilemma posed if the legal conclusion set forth in Decision No. R98-246 was to be adopted by the Commission.  Robert Timmons, doing business as Superior Shuttle Service, Inc., is not a party to this matter, and, therefore, the Commission will not consider his comments.  As a result, the Commission will strike the comments filed by Robert Timmons, doing business as Superior Shuttle Service, Inc.


� The responsibilities of the ICC were by and large transferred to the STB and the Federal Highway Administration as a result of the ICC Termination Act of 1995, Pub. L. No. 104-88, 109 Stat. 803 (1995) (codified as amended in scattered sections of 49 U.S.C.).  The validity of ABC Carriers’ certificate was not impacted by this transfer of responsibility.


� Even though Funbus Systems and Funbus Systems Remand construe prior iterations of transportation law, nothing in the legislative history suggests that Congress modified the applicable test, quoted above, when it enacted 49 U.S.C. § 13902(b)(3) -- the current statute addressing intrastate transportation by interstate carriers -- as part of the ICC Termination Act of 1995.  For purposes of background and comparison, the current provision and the two former provisions upon which the ICC’s test is formulated are set forth here:





	49 U.S.C. § 13902(b)(3):  Intrastate transportation by interstate carriers.  A motor carrier of passengers that is registered by the Secretary under subsection (a) is authorized to provide regular-route transportation entirely in one State as a motor carrier of passengers if such intrastate transportation is to be provided on a route over which the carrier provides interstate transportation of passengers.


	Former 49 U.S.C. § 10922(c)(2)(B) (construed by the Ninth Circuit in Funbus Systems):  The [ICC] shall issue a certificate to a person authorizing that person to provide regular-route transportation entirely in one State as a motor common carrier of passengers if such intrastate transportation is to be provided on a route over which the carrier has been granted authority, or will be granted authority, after the effective date of this section to provide interstate transportation of passengers. ...


Former 49 U.S.C. § 10922(c)(2)(J) (construed by the ICC in Funbus Systems Remand):  Limitation on intrastate certificates.  Each certificate issued under this paragraph to provide intrastate transportation of passengers on any route shall be subject to a condition which limits the authority of the carrier to provide intrastate transportation service under the certificate only if the carrier provides regularly scheduled interstate transportation service on the route.


� Administrative agency opinion letters not reached as a result of hearing adversary proceedings, "while not controlling upon the courts by reason of their authority, do constitute a body of experience and informed judgment to which courts and litigants may properly resort for guidance."  Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134, 140 (1944).


� See supra note 4.
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